
U N I T E D S TAT E S D E PA R T M E N T O F E D U C AT I O N

OFFICE OF MANAGEMENT

December 17, 2018

Mr. Bob Hastings
Superintendent
Gering Public Schools
1519 10'*' Street
Gering, Nebraska 69341

Dear Mr. Hastings:

This is to inform you of the finding in the complaint filed against Gering Public Schools
(District) by Mr. and Mrs. Kurt Fahrenbrook (Parents). The Parents alleged that the District
violated the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) when the District disclosed
information from the education records of the Parent's son, Austin (Student), absent their prior
written consent. We apologize for the delay in issuing this letter of finding.

In a complaint dated April 9, 2015, the Parents alleged that the District violated§ 99.30 of the
FERPA regulations when it improperly disclosed personally identifiable information from the
education records of their child, Austin Fahrenbrook (Student). Specifically, the Parents allege
that Police Officer Kevin Lehr was given a copy of the District's "Gering Incident Report"
regarding the September 5, 2014, altercation between the Student and Mrs. Veronica Barney, a
special education teacher. The Parents state that the "Gering Incident Report" was created by
Mrs. Barney, Ms. Ruby Arriaga, Ms. Kenda Foos, Ms. Dora Olivares, Ms. Teresa Swank, and
Mr. Michel Roush, all employed by the District. The Parents further state that the incident report
became part of Student's education record. The Parents are not aware of any judicial order or
subpoena which would have allowed the District to provide Police Officer Lehr with a copy of
the District's report, nor did the Parents provide their written consent. The Parents stated that on
February 27, 2015, the Student's mother spoke with the District's Law Enforcement Unit School
Security Resource Officer, Mr. Henry Moreno, who said he was not involved in documenting the
incident during the alleged assault. He did note that he took digital photographs of Mrs. Barney's
injuries several days after the incident occurred. Ultimately, the Parents allege that the "Gering
Incident Report" was improperly disclosed by the District to Police Officer Lehr, who then
provided his police report, along with a copy of the "Gering Incident Report," to Mr. Corey
Rothrock, Scottsbluff Deputy Attorney. Mr. Rothrock then used that information to initiate
criminal charges against the Student and prosecute him for alleged assault.
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By letter dated April 20, 2017, this Office informed the District of the Parents' allegation and
requested it to provide us a written response. By letter dated May 19, 2017, Ms. Karen Haase, an
attorney representing the District, responded on behalf of the District. In her response,
Ms. Haase states:

[The Student] is a student with a disability who receives services pursuant to an
individualized education [Program] (lEP). On September 5,2014, [the Student] had a
violent meltdown during which he physically assaulted numerous Gering staff members.
[The Student's] lEP included multiple strategies for staff to implement to assist [the
Student] when he experienced a loss of emotional control. Staff members implemented
these strategies with fidelity. [The Student's mother], who is employed by the school
district as a speech pathologist, arrived to offer her assistance during this violent episode.
Although she attempted to help [the Student] bring himself back under control she was
also unsuccessful. [The Student] assaulted Veronica Barney, a special education teacher,
by hitting, kicking, head-butting and biting her. Ms. Barney had numerous bruises on her
arms, head and face. Ms. Barney was treated at the local hospital for her injuries.
Photographs of some of her injuries are included with this response ... [The Student]
also assaulted Ruby Arriaga, a paraeducator employed by the school district, by kicking
her repeatedly. Ms. Arriaga, who was pregnant at the time of the assault, was treated by
her physician after the assault. School Principal Dora Olivares intervened using the
techniques in which she was trained and which were called for in the lEP. [The Student]
responded by slapping and kicking her. This violent outburst also included dangerous
acts of destruction of property. During this incident [the Student] threw a chair,
headphones, and books. Neither school staff nor the [Student's mother] was able to calm
[the Student] down during this incident.

Despite the severity of this incident, the school district did not contact local law
enforcement. The criminal charge which predicated this Complaint was initiated by
medical staff employed by the local hospital. Three Gering School District staff
members who were assaulted were treated at the local hospital for their injuries. Pursuant
to hospital policy, medical staff notified local law enforcement of the assault. In the
police report filed by the responding officer, it was noted that there were concerns by the
staff and their families about their personal safety. [The Student] also incurred injuries in
the incident, including bleeding from a medical appliance and a cut on his hand.

As part of the criminal investigation into the incident, Ms. Barney was interviewed by the
Gering Police Department. During the interview, Ms. Barney gave the investigating
officer an incident report that she had completed for the school district, a copy of which
is attached ... Ms. Barney also provided the police with a copy of Ms. Arriaga's written
statement, a copy of which is attached...

In this case, Ms. Barney disclosed the incident reports after a violent student assault that
resulted in injuries which were significant enough to prompt medical staff to contact law
enforcement. Ms. Barney and other staff members had significant and ongoing concerns
about their personal safety. [The Student's] history of violent outbursts posed "an
articulable and significant threat to the health or safety of both [the Student] and the staff.
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34 CFR 99.36. Whether or not [the Student's] parents agree with Ms. Barney's
assessment of the threat [the Student] posed, neither they nor FPCO are permitted to
"substitute [their] judgment for" Ms. Barney's.

On September 5, 2014, the Gering School District staff was confronted by a student in
the midst of a violent outburst, who would not calm down even after implementation of
all of the emotional control strategies described in his lEP. He hit, bit, kicked and head
butted multiple staff members and even his mother could not calm him. After being
treated at the local hospital alongside two of her peers, Ms. Barney was interviewed by
the police after medical staff summoned them. Ms. Barney reasonably concluded that
there was "an articulable and significant threat to the health or safety of a student or other
individuals" and disclosed information about the assault to the investigating officers. As
such, Ms. Barney's disclosure was permissible pursuant to 34 CFR 99.36. Therefore, the
District respectfully requests that this Complaint be dismissed and that no further action
be taken by the Department.

Relevant Regulations

FERPA is a federal law that protects the privacy of students' education records. The term
"education records" is defined under FEl̂ A, with certain exclusions, as those records that are
directly related to a student and which are maintained by an educational agency or institution
(e.g., a school or postsecondary institution), or by a party acting for the agency or institution, to
which funds have been made available under any program administered by the Secretary of
Education. FERPA affords parents certain rights with regard to their children's education
records. When a child reaches 18 years of age or begins attending a postsecondary institution at
any age, he or she becomes an "eligible student," and all of the rights under FERPA once
afforded the parent transfer to the student. These rights include the right to inspect and review
your child's education records, the right to seek to have the education records amended, the right
to have some control over the disclosure of personally identifiable information from the
education records, and the right to file a written complaint with FPCO regarding an alleged
violation of FERPA. Under FERPA, a school is prohibited from disclosing personally
identifiable information from your child's education records, without consent, unless the
disclosure meets an exception to FERPA's general consent requirement.

One of the exceptions to FERPA's general written consent requirement permits an educational
agency or institution to disclose personally identifiable information from an education record to
appropriate parties, including the parents of an eligible student, in connection with an emergency
if knowledge of the information is necessary to protect the health or safety of the student or other
individuals. In making a determination under this exception, an educational agency or institution
may take into account the totality of the circumstances pertaining to a threat to the health or
safety of a student or other individuals. If the educational agency or institution determines that
there is an articulable and significant threat to the health or safety of a student or other
individuals, it may disclose information from education records to any person whose knowledge
of the information is necessary to protect the health or safety of the student or other individuals.
If, based on the information available at the time of the determination, the Department will not
substitute its judgement for that of the educational agency or institution in evaluating the
circumstances and making its determination.
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A n a l y s i s & F i n d i n g

The District's response indicates that based on facts surrounding the September 5, 2014, incident
with the Student, specifically that implementing the strategies incorporated into the Student's
IE? did not serve to deescalate the abusive behavior, Ms. Barney believed the Student presented
a health and safety emergency. The school officials sustained injuries from the Student's attack
that were severe enough to send them to the local hospital where hospital policy required staff to
report such an attack to the local police. It appears further that school officials believed as long
as they were responsible for the education and care of the Student there was the possibility of an
on-going health and safety emergency. Based on the information provided by the Parents and by
the District, we believe that Ms. Barney's disclosure was consistent with FERPA's health and
safety emergency exception, including providing the October 5, 2018, incident report to the local
police.

Therefore, this Office finds that the District did not violate FERPA as alleged. Accordingly, we
are closing the complaint and will so notify the Parent by copy of this letter. Thank you for your
cooperation with regard to this investigation.

Sincerely,

M ichae l B . Hawes

Acting Director
Family Policy Compliance Office

cc : Pa ren t

Ms. Karen Haase


